Impacts of CO₂ Mandates for New Cars in the European Union

Sergey Paltsev, Y.-H. Henry Chen, Valerie Karplus, Paul Kishimoto and John Reilly



Report No. 281 May 2015 The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change combines cutting-edge scientific research with independent policy analysis to provide a solid foundation for the public and private decisions needed to mitigate and adapt to unavoidable global environmental changes. Being data-driven, the Program uses extensive Earth system and economic data and models to produce quantitative analysis and predictions of the risks of climate change and the challenges of limiting human influence on the environment—essential knowledge for the international dialogue toward a global response to climate change.

To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established MIT research centers: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers—along with collaborators from the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole and short- and long-term visitors—provide the united vision needed to solve global challenges.

At the heart of much of the Program's work lies MIT's Integrated Global System Model. Through this integrated model, the Program seeks to: discover new interactions among natural and human climate system components; objectively assess uncertainty in economic and climate projections; critically and quantitatively analyze environmental management and policy proposals; understand complex connections among the many forces that will shape our future; and improve methods to model, monitor and verify greenhouse gas emissions and climatic impacts.

This reprint is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of global environment and energy challenges, thereby contributing to informed debate about climate change and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives.

Ronald G. Prinn and John M. Reilly, *Program Co-Directors*

For more information, contact the Program office:

MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

Postal Address:

Massachusetts Institute of Technology 77 Massachusetts Avenue, E19-411 Cambridge, MA 02139 (USA)

Location: Building E19, Room 411 400 Main Street, Cambridge

Access: Tel: (617) 253-7492 Fax: (617) 253-9845 Email: *globalchange@mit.edu* Website: *http://globalchange.mit.edu/*

Impacts of CO₂ Mandates for New Cars in the European Union

Sergey Paltsev*[†], Y.-H. Henry Chen*, Valerie Karplus*, Paul Kishimoto* and John Reilly*

Abstract

 CO_2 emissions mandates for new light-duty passenger vehicles have recently been adopted in the European Union (EU), which require steady reductions to 95 g CO_2 /km in 2021. Using a computable general equilibrium (CGE) model, we analyze the impact of the mandates on oil demand, CO_2 emissions, and economic welfare, and compare the results to an emission trading scenario that achieves identical emissions reductions. We find that the mandates lower oil expenditures by about $\epsilon 6$ billion, but at a net added cost of $\epsilon 12$ billion in 2020. Emissions from transport are about $50MtCO_2$ lower with the vehicle emission standards, but with the economy-wide emission trading, lower emissions in transport allow an equal increase in emissions elsewhere in the economy. We estimate that tightening CO_2 standards further after 2020 would cost the EU economy an additional $\epsilon 24-63$ billion in 2025 compared with achieving the same reductions with an economy-wide emission trading system.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	2
2. FUELS STANDARDS BASICS AND THE EUROPEAN REQUIREMENTS	
2.1 Fuel Economy Standard Basics	3
2.2 European Vehicle Standards	4
3. MODEL AND SCENARIOS	
3.1 Model Description	6
3.2 Scenarios	
4. RESULTS	9
4.1. Impact of the Current Policies on New Cars and Total Fleet	10
4.2. Energy and Environmental Impacts of the Current Policies	10
4.3. Economic Impacts	12
5. CONCLUSIONS	14
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	15
REFERENCES	16

^{*} Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, MA, USA.

[†] Corresponding Author (Email: paltsev@mit.edu).

1. INTRODUCTION

European Union legislation sets mandatory CO₂ emissions reduction targets for new cars (EC, 2009). The legislation is based on the EU strategy for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles that is at once aimed at fighting climate change, reducing the EU reliance on imported fuels, and improving air quality (EC, 2007). It sets a new vehicle fleet average for passenger cars of 130 grams of CO₂ per kilometer (g/km) for 2015 (phased in from 2012), falling to 95 g/km by 2021. The 2007 new car fleet average was about 159 g/km (EC, 2014). The goal of this paper is to assess the resulting CO₂ emissions, energy, and economic impacts of the EU CO₂ mandates, and compare them to an alternative scenario where vehicle emissions are part of an emission trading system designed to meet Europe's announced economy-wide targets. Most analyses to date have been based on simplified benefit-cost calculations that estimate fuel savings and additional costs of introducing new technology deployment driven by the targets (e.g. TNO, 2011; Ricardo-AEA, 2014; ICCT, 2014a). We argue that assessment of the performance of the EU targets and alternatives should account for interactions of the transport sector with other energy sectors and with other parts of the economy. For this purpose we apply a global, economy-wide model of energy and emissions. The MIT Economic Projection and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model (Paltsev et al., 2005), in the version applied here, includes a technology-rich representation of the passenger vehicle transport sector and its substitution with purchased modes, as documented in Karplus et al. (2013a).

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we discuss some fuel economy standard basics and describe in more detail the European standards. In Section 3 we describe the model used for the analysis. In Section 4 we implement a scenario analysis to study the effects of the EU CO_2 standards for passenger cars. Section 5 summarizes the results and conclusions.

2. FUELS STANDARDS BASICS AND THE EUROPEAN REQUIREMENTS

Tailpipe CO₂ emissions standards, as adopted in Europe, are similar to fuel economy standards such as the US Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standards, which date to the Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 (US EPCA, 1975). Fuel use per mile or kilometer, the target in fuel economy standards, translates directly to CO₂ emissions given the carbon content of the fuel. For example, 95 g/km is equivalent to 4.1 liters of gasoline per 100 kilometers (l/km) or 57.4 miles per gallon (mpg) of gasoline. In general, however, there is a gap between test standards and actual on-road performance of vehicles. A direct translation of targets between countries is further complicated as it also should reflect the mix of gasoline and diesel cars in each country because they have different fuel efficiencies. The ICCT (2014a) estimates that the 95 g/km target for the EU is equivalent to 3.8 l/km (considering a mix of gasoline and diesel cars) and to about 62 mpg in the US specification (considering the differences between the EU and US test standards).

2.1 Fuel Economy Standard Basics

Emissions and fuel economy standards have become a popular regulatory mechanism, with many countries setting such targets despite economists' questioning of their effectiveness (ICCT, 2014a; Karplus *et al.*, 2015). An initial issue is the translation of targets defined by a specific test cycle to actual fuel use or emissions reductions. Test cycle settings differ among jurisdictions (e.g., Europe and the US) and differ from actual driving habits. The conditions under which the tests are conducted can also differ from actual road and environmental conditions. Currently, actual on-road fuel consumption exceeds the test results by about 20% in the US (EPA, 2014) and about 30% in the EU (ICCT, 2014b).

Standards also often include other credits that relax the actual target, or manufacturers may find it less costly to simply pay noncompliance penalties. In the US and EU, credits are available for reductions of hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) used as refrigerants in air conditioning. Anderson and Sallee (2011) also point to the extensive use of credits for flex-fuel vehicles, an exception in recent US CAFE standards. The spread of flex-fuel vehicles was an objective of the legislation, anticipating a growing supply of ethanol, which would reduce oil imports and CO_2 emissions. As it turned out, however, very little of the E85 fuel (an 85% ethanol blend) was available and so most of these flex vehicles continued to use petroleum-based fuels with no benefit to fuel imports or CO_2 emissions. While exceptions in legislation may or may not achieve the expected objective, they relax the actual vehicle emission standard and can substantially reduce the estimated compliance costs (Anderson and Sallee, 2011).

While adjustments can be made to the stated standard to better estimate their effectiveness, economists' concern is that the standards can actually affect consumer behavior, reducing fuel or emissions savings. To the extent the vehicles are more costly, the sales of efficient new vehicles may be reduced and old vehicles may be retained in the fleet longer. New cars that are purchased that meet efficiency standards have lower fuel costs per distance traveled, and that may lead to an increase in travel—widely known as a "rebound" effect (Small and Van Dender, 2007). Moreover, the standards apply only to new vehicles whereas a fuel or emissions tax creates opportunities to reduce fuel use in the existing fleet—for instance, through changes in driving habits, improved vehicle maintenance, earlier retirement of older inefficient vehicles, or in the case of emissions, substitution of low carbon energy sources. Higher fuel prices have been shown to incentivize consumer purchases of more efficient vehicles, although consumer responses have been shown to vary across regions (Klier and Linn, 2011). Because of these various inefficiencies, taxes are widely considered to be the most cost-effective option for displacing petroleum-based fuel use. Despite the advantages, fuel taxes have failed to gain political traction in the United States (Knittel, 2012). Europe, on the other hand, already has among the highest fuel taxes in the world, and opposition to increasing the gasoline tax has been strong, particularly given the recent economic slowdown (Sterner, 2012).

Regulatory processes that assess the energy, emissions, and economic impacts of these fuel economy programs typically rely on vehicle fleet and technology models that do not capture behavioral impacts or broader macroeconomic effects. Regulatory impact assessments in the

United States (EPA, 2012a, 2012b) have focused on the new vehicle fleet and have not assessed impacts on fleet turnover, non-transport sectors, or global oil price and quantity demanded. In the European Union, EUCLIMIT—an economy-wide model for Europe—has been used with broad sectoral coverage and fleet dynamics; however, international variables are still assumed to be exogenous (Eur-Lex, 2012).

A reason frequently given for implementing or tightening new vehicle fuel economy standards is that consumers underestimate the value of fuel savings over the life of the car, and therefore are unwilling to pay extra for efficiency at the time of vehicle purchase, requiring correction through policy (Greene *et al.*, 2005). Recent work has tested this hypothesis. One study suggests that consumers that are indifferent between one dollar in fuel costs and 76 cents in vehicle purchase price (Allcott and Wozny, 2012), suggesting mild undervaluation, while other empirical work finds scant evidence of consumer myopia (Goldberg, 1998; Knittel *et al.*, 2013). Their work suggests that consumers respond rationally to price mechanisms like carbon taxes or gasoline taxes, leaving little need for additional policy intervention as prices influence both what cars people buy and how much people drive.

Comparison of emission trading and fuel economy standards include that of Rausch and Karplus (2014), who find that in the US, an emission trading system is more efficient than vehicle emission standards. Paltsev *et al.* (2014) considered a sequential policy design, where global emissions were first regulated in electricity and private transportation, but then later were combined with economy-wide emissions trading. Economy-wide emissions trading reduced the cost of mitigation.

Ellerman *et al.* (2006) examined possible links between CAFE standards in the US with a proposed emission trading system. They concluded that in the presence of an overall carbon cap, the CAFE standards are a poor regulatory policy for dealing with carbon emissions, whether or not it is integrated with the emission trading system. A useful aspect of their study is discussion of the practical steps needed to bring transportation under emissions trading in a cost-effective manner that engages both upstream (fuel provider) and downstream (car owner) actors.

2.2 European Vehicle Standards

The European Union has only recently pursued standards, having instead previously relied on fuel taxes. The new standards began with a voluntary agreement with car manufacturers to achieve 140 g/km for new vehicles sold in 2008–2009. The standard became mandatory when legislation required a fleet average of 130 g/km for all new passenger cars registered in the EU in 2015 (EC, 2009). The legislation included a so-called "limit value curve", allowing heavier cars to have higher emissions than lighter cars while preserving the overall fleet average. A target of 95 g/km was specified for the year 2020, with full implementation later delayed to 2021. In 2014 the European Parliament's Environmental Committee issued a report calling for a 2025 target in the range of 68 to 78 g/km (EPRS, 2014). In 2014 the EU issued a regulation (EU, 2014) that the vehicle CO₂ target should be achieved "in a cost-effective manner."

A summary of historic, enacted and proposed CO_2 emission reductions through 2025 for new cars in the EU is shown in **Figure 1**, with the US standards shown for comparison. Historically, the average EU cars are more fuel-efficient (and produce less tailpipe CO_2 emissions per kilometer) than US cars, which economists would likely attribute to higher fuel taxes in the EU. Differential fuel taxes for diesel and gasoline have also contributed to a much larger penetration of diesel cars, which have higher fuel efficiency in liters per kilometer. The US standards are specified through 2025, but they are enacted only up through the 2021 model year, with a mid-term review of the standards scheduled to take place in 2017.

As mentioned previously, the EU currently sets two targets for new cars: 130 g/km in 2015 and 95 g/km in 2021. A gradual phase-in of the targets is achieved by increasing the percentage of the new vehicle fleet to which they apply. By 2020, 95% of new cars have to comply with the 95 g/km target which, according to ICCT (2014a), makes it effectively a 98 g/km target for 2020. Full compliance must be achieved by 2021. In Figure 1 the requirements are drawn as a simple linear approximation between the 2015 and 2020 targets, with the range under discussion for 2025 also shown.



Figure 1. CO₂ regulations for cars in USA and EU normalized to the EU NEDC test cycle. Data source: ICCT (2014a), EPRS (2014).

Based on data of the European Environment Agency (EEA, 2014), in 2013 the fleet average for new cars was 127 g/km, falling below the 2015 standard, even though the phase-in schedule required that only 75% of newly-registered cars in 2013 meet the 130 g/km target. While seemingly good news, the EU system of testing cars to measure fuel economy and CO₂ emissions shows a growing gap between the test results and on-road performance of cars. The ICCT (2014b) estimates the divergence has grown from 8% in 2001 to 31% in 2013. Transport & Environment (2014) estimates that without action the divergence is likely to grow to over 50% by 2020. Applying the 31% difference to the 2013 test results leads to about 166 g/km for the actual performance of new cars. The growing difference between test results and on-road performance is a concern both in the EU and US, and changes have been proposed for the testing and labeling of cars to better represent the fuel economy drivers are likely to experience (EPA, 2014). Efforts such as ours, to estimate cost and effectiveness of such measures, must reflect as best they can the relationship between test standards and the likely actual on-road performance of vehicles. If the standards are taken at face value, costs of compliance and effectiveness will be overestimated. On the other hand, if test standards are changed to better reflect actual performance, the cost and effectiveness of the standards will be underestimated.

3. MODEL AND SCENARIOS

We approach analysis of the European standards using a global energy–economic model, with detail on vehicle options for fuel saving and their costs, which is capable of capturing rebound and leakage effects while estimating fuel savings, emissions reductions, and economic costs of the regulations. We capture leakage that occurs across sectors within economies, across regions, and between new and used passenger vehicles. The rebound effect is also captured, and based on parameterization of the costs associated with vehicle efficiency improvements, the contribution of resulting fuel savings given diverse taxation regimes for motor vehicle fuel, and heterogeneity in vehicle ownership and travel demand patterns. The model further captures how these two effects interact with each other.

3.1 Model Description

We use the MIT Economic Projection and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model (Paltsev *et al.*, 2005; Karplus *et al.*, 2013a) for the analysis. It provides a multi-region, multi-sector recursive dynamic representation of the global economy. Data on production, consumption, intermediate inputs, international trade, energy and taxes for the base year of 2004 are from the Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) dataset (Narayanan and Walmsley, 2008). The GTAP dataset is aggregated into 16 regions (**Table 1**) and 24 sectors, including several advanced technology sectors parameterized with supplementary engineering cost data. The model includes representation of CO₂ and non-CO₂ (methane, CH₄; nitrous oxide, N₂O; hydrofluorocarbons, HFCs; perfluorocarbons, PFCs; and sulphur hexafluoride, SF₆) greenhouse gas emissions abatement, and calculates reductions from gas-specific control measures as well as those occurring as a byproduct of actions directed at CO₂. The model also tracks major air pollutants (sulfates, SO_x; nitrogen oxides, NO_x; black carbon, BC; organic carbon, OC; carbon monoxide, CO; ammonia, NH₃; and non-methane volatile organic compounds, VOCs). The data on GHG and air pollutants are documented in Waugh *et al.* (2011).

From 2005 the model solves at 5-year intervals, with economic growth and energy use for 2005–2015 calibrated to data and short-term projections from the International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2014) and the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2014). The model includes a technology-rich representation of the passenger vehicle transport sector and its substitution with purchased modes including aviation, rail, and marine transport (Paltsev *et al.*, 2004). Several

features were incorporated into the EPPA model to explicitly represent passenger vehicle transport sector detail (Karplus *et al.*, 2013a). These features include an empirically-based parameterization of the relationship between income growth and demand for vehicle miles traveled (VMT), a representation of fleet turnover, and opportunities for fuel use and emissions abatement, including representation of electric vehicles. The opportunities for fuel efficiency improvement are parameterized based on data from the U.S Environmental Protection Agency (EPA, 2010; EPA, 2012b) as described in Karplus (2011), Karplus and Paltsev (2012), and Karplus *et al.* (2013b).

	Sectors	Regions
	Agriculture	Europe (EUR)
	Forestry	United States (USA)
βλ	Energy-Intensive Products	Canada (CAN)
nei	Other Industries Products	Japan (JPN)
Non-Energy	Industrial Transportation	Mexico (MEX)
Ň	Household Transportation	Australia & Oceania (ANZ)
	Food	Russia (RUS)
	Services	China (CHN)
	Coal	India (IND)
	Crude Oil	Brazil (BRA)
	Refined Oil	Rest of Latin America (LAM)
	Natural Gas	Higher-Income Asia (ASI)
	Electricity Generation Technologies	Rest of East Asia (REA)
	Fossil	Middle East (MES)
	Hydro	Africa (AFR)
	Nuclear	Rest of Europe and Central Asia (ROE)
Energy	Solar and Wind	
neı	Biomass	
ш	Natural Gas Combined Cycle	
	Natural Gas with CO ₂ Capture and Storage (CCS)	
	Advanced Coal with CCS	
	Synthetic Gas from Coal	_
	Hydrogen from Coal	
	Hydrogen from Gas	_
	Oil from Shale	
	Liquid Fuel from Biomass	

 Table 1. Sectors and regions in the EPPA model.

Note: Detail on aggregation of GTAP sectors and the addition of advanced technologies are provided in Paltsev *et al.* (2005). Details on the disaggregation of industrial and household transportation sectors are documented in Paltsev *et al.* (2004).

Given that the CO₂ standards apply only to new model-year vehicles, differentiation between the new and used vehicle fleets is essential. We also include a parameterization of the total miles traveled in both new (0 to 5-year-old) and used (6 years and older) vehicles, and track changes in travel demand in response to changes in income as well as cost-per-kilometer. We represent the ability to substitute between new and used vehicles—an additional way in which consumers respond to changes in relative prices of vehicles and fuels as affected by the introduction of vehicle standards, fuel prices, or carbon prices (as they are reflected in fuel prices). Details are provided in Karplus *et al.* (2015).

As noted, our representation of vehicle efficiency options is based on studies in the US. No comparable study has been done for the EU, but the cost and fuel savings associated with different options is, first and foremost, a matter of technology possibilities that face automakers worldwide. Studies in Europe include an evaluation done by TNO (2011), which relied primarily on the existing literature and in-house expertise. In the US study, the US EPA included extensive communication with car manufacturers. The budget of the EPA studies was around an order of magnitude higher than that of the TNO work for the EU, and the lower budget obviously limited what the TNO could undertake (TNO, 2011). While a detailed study of costs of efficiency improvements in Europe would be ideal, we believe the US study offers a reasonable estimate of the technical options available to manufacturers.

The fuel economy standards are implemented in the EPPA model as constraints on the fuel used per kilometer of household travel. They are converted to CO₂ standards based on characteristics of the fleet (composition of diesel and gasoline vehicles). The standards are imposed at their values based on ex ante usage assumptions (i.e., before any change in miles traveled due to the higher efficiency). This approach forces the model to simulate adoption of vehicle technologies that achieve the imposed standard at least cost. The production function specification for vehicles creates a Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) nest where the elasticity of substitution between fuel and powertrain capital captures the increasing cost of marginal improvements in vehicle efficiency, holding other characteristics of the vehicle fixed (Karplus et al., 2013a). When simulated, tradeoffs between the power train and other characteristics of the vehicle, and the response of total vehicle-miles traveled due to lower energy costs per km are captured. The form of the utility function, the input shares, and the substitution elasticity between vehicle and powertrain capital determines how much the cost of travel changes in response to changes in the underlying CO₂ requirements and vehicle characteristics, which in turn determines the magnitude of the rebound effect. Demand for new vehicles is also affected by their cost. The model assumes consumers consider fuel savings over the life of the vehicle, but because of the recursive-dynamic solution of the model they value savings according to fuel prices in the year the vehicle is purchased. With rising fuel prices, this implies that some undervaluation of future fuel savings can exist, with potential room for fuels standards to improve on these myopic decisions.

3.2 Scenarios

We consider several scenarios regarding the EU CO₂ emissions targets. Our "No Policy" scenario considers no economy-wide GHG reduction targets and no mandatory CO2 emissions reduction targets for new cars. It provides the basis against which we compare the outcomes of the other scenarios. We then consider the EU GHG reduction targets (20% reduction by 2020 and 40% reduction by 2030 relative to 1990 levels) achieved by an economy-wide emission trading system (denoted as "Emission Trading"). In the Emission Trading scenario, permit trading is allowed across all sectors within the EU. We then create the "Current ES" scenario, where we add to Emission Trading the current emissions standards for vehicles of 130 g/km in 2015 improving to 98 g/km by 2020, and holding the requirement in 2025 at the 2021 target of 95 g/km. While the *Current ES* scenario is imposed on top of a system that allows trading with vehicle emissions, because the standards are binding on fuel economy this is equivalent to removing vehicles from the trading system, and adjusting the trading system to assure that Europe met its international commitment of 20% by 2020 and 40% by 2030, regardless of the vehicle emission standard requirements. We then add two scenarios that tighten targets further in 2025: to 78 g/km ("ES78") and to 68 g/km ("ES68"). We assume that the difference between the test values and on-road performance of new cars remains at 2013 levels of 30%. Table 2 summarizes the scenarios, which we run from 2010 to 2025, at five-year time steps of the model.

Name	Description	
No Policy	No GHG reductions and no mandatory CO ₂ reduction targets for new cars.	
Emission Trading	Economy-wide emission trading to achieve the EU goals (20% reduction in 2020, 40% reduction in 2030 relative to 1990 levels).	
Current ES	Current policy for Emission Standards (ES) in cars: 130 g/km in 2015, 98 g/km in 2020, 95 g/km in 2025. The standards are imposed on top of the <i>Emission Trading</i> .	
ES78	Same as <i>Current ES</i> for 2015-2020, 78 g/km in 2025.	
ES68	Same as <i>Current ES</i> for 2015-2020, 68 g/km in 2025.	

Table 2. List of scenarios.

For simplicity, we omit some features of the vehicle emission standard regulations that could loosen stringency in practice, for example, super-credits for extremely low emission vehicles and eco-innovations. We also assume that car manufacturers meet the standards rather than paying a penalty for excess emissions (set at \notin 95 per g/km of exceedance).

4. RESULTS

We first describe the trends in new vehicles and the total fleet in terms of fuel economy and CO_2 emissions per kilometer under each of the scenarios. We then describe the energy and total vehicle emissions implications of the each scenario. Lastly we evaluate the policy costs.

4.1. Impact of the Current Policies on New Cars and Total Fleet

To illustrate how the CO_2 mandate affects the efficiency of fuel use, we show projected on-road fuel consumption in liters per 100 km traveled of an average on-road vehicle in the new fleet and total vehicle fleet (**Figure 2**). As anticipated, we observe a declining trend in fuel efficiency through 2025, with declines in the total fleet lagging the new fleet as newer vintages of vehicles gradually replace the old vehicle stock. The model solves in 5-year time steps and so intervening years are linear interpolations. In 2025 new fleet is projected to have on-road fuel consumption of 4.9 l/km in the *Current ES* scenario, 4.1 l/km in the *ES78* scenario, and 3.5 l/km in the *ES68* scenario. The corresponding numbers for the total fleet in 2025 are 6.1 l/km in the *Current ES* scenario, 5.5 l/km in the *ES78* scenario, and 5.1 l/km in the *ES68* scenario.

On-road CO₂ emissions per kilometer for new cars and the total fleet in the *Current ES* Scenario are presented in **Figure 3**, along with the actual test cycle requirements. Emissions per kilometer follow the fuel consumption trajectory. The curves for test cycle requirements are lower (i.e., less emissions per km) than the new vehicles' CO₂ emissions per kilometer, reflecting our assumption that the on-road performance of vehicles is 30% lower (i.e., more emissions per km) than the test cycle. In the *Current ES* scenario, the mandates for new cars are set to be tightened from 130 g/km in 2015 to 95 g/km in 2025, while on road the new cars achieve 169 g/km in 2015 and 123 g/km in 2025 and the total fleet performance improves from 192 g/km in 2015 to 152 g/km in 2025. In the *ES78* and *ES68* scenarios, new cars in 2025 achieve 101 g/km and 88 g/km, respectively. The total fleet performances in 2025 in these scenarios are 137 g/km and 127 g/km, correspondingly.

4.2. Energy and Environmental Impacts of the Current Policies

We now consider the net effect of the current EU CO₂ vehicle emission standards on energy and environmental outcomes. We first focus on the change in the EU total oil consumption shown in **Table 3**. The *No Policy* scenario shows a slight decrease in oil use over the 2010–2025 period. The *Emission Trading* scenario further reduces the total EU year-on-year oil use by around 23 million tonnes of oil (mtoe) in 2020 and by around 55 mtoe in 2025, about 4% and 10% reductions relative to the *No Policy* scenario in 2020 and 2025, respectively. The *Current ES* scenario creates an additional reduction in the EU oil consumption of 12 mtoe/year in 2020 and 14 mtoe/year in 2025. With the steeper 2025 targets, the corresponding declines in the *ES78* and *ES68* scenarios are 18 and 20 mtoe/year in 2025.

Based on the projected oil price of around \$75/barrel in 2020 and \$80/barrel in 2025, we can estimate fuel expenditure savings in the *Current ES* scenario, which we find to be about ϵ 5.9 billion (\$6.7 billion at the current exchange rates) in 2020 and about ϵ 7.1 billion (\$8.2 billion) in 2025. Higher emission targets in 2025 would save more in reduced oil payments (ϵ 9.1 billion Euro in *ES78* and ϵ 10.4 billion Euro in *ES68*), but as we show later, they would also cost more.



Figure 2. On-road fuel consumption for an average new car and total fleet.



Figure 3. CO₂ mandates for new cars based on the test cycle ("test cycle"), on-road CO₂ emissions for an average new car ("new fleet"), and total fleet ("total fleet").

Table 3. Oil use (mtoe) in the *No Policy* scenario and reduction in oil use (mtoe) with alternative policy instruments.

	<i>No Policy</i> , Oil Use (mtoe)	Emission Trading, Oil Use Reduction (mtoe)	Emission Standards, Oil Use Reduction (mtoe)
2015	562	17.2	20.8
2020	547	22.7	34.9
2025	552	55.1	see below
Current ES			69.1
ES78			73.0
ES68			75.4

	Economy-wide emissions <i>MtCO</i> 2		Reduction in Vehicle Emissions from <i>No Po</i> <i>MtCO</i> ₂	
	No Policy	With Policy	Emission Trading	Emission Standards
2015	3679	3525	15	30
2020	3605	3385	18	65
2025	3638	3123	28	see below
Current ES				86
ES78				102
ES68				112

Table 4. Economy-wide and vehicle CO₂ emissions reductions under alternative policies.

Turning to CO_2 emissions in the policy scenarios, our simulation approach assures that a consistent EU-wide emissions target is achieved in both the *Emission Trading* and *Current ES* scenarios; however, private vehicles emission differ. In the *Emission Trading* scenario vehicle emissions are reduced by 18 million tonnes of CO_2 (MtCO₂) in 2020 and 28 MtCO₂ in 2025 (**Table 4**). The *Current ES* scenario in 2020 forces an additional 47 MtCO₂, for a total reduction from vehicles nearly 4 times that in the *Emission Trading* scenario. However, given the structure of the scenarios, that means the greater vehicle emissions reduction under the *Current ES* allows higher emissions in other sectors. We also observe that emission reductions from private cars are relatively modest compared to the total EU CO₂ emissions of about 3,100–3,400 MtCO₂ in 2020–2025. The total reduction from vehicles in *Current ES* compared with *No Policy* is only about 2% of economy-wide emissions.

Potential emission reductions due to the displacement of petroleum-based fuels are partially offset by increases in vehicle travel due to the reduced cost per mile (a result of both higher vehicle efficiency and reduced fuel cost). We consider the cost effectiveness of achieving these reductions relative to an efficient instrument targeting CO_2 in the next section.

4.3. Economic Impacts

We report economic impacts in terms of changes in macroeconomic consumption where it is the same concept as in the well-recognized definition of GDP:

GDP = C (consumption) + I (investment) + G (government) + X (exports) - M (imports)

As evaluated within the model, an annual consumption change is equal to the annual welfare change, measured as equivalent variation. For a discussion of the relationship among these different cost concepts see Paltsev and Capros, (2013). Macroeconomic consumption changes are the net effect of the policy, accounting for the increase in vehicle manufacturing costs less any fuel savings, as well as effects of broader changes in allocative efficiency caused by the policy. The broader changes include such things as changes in other prices in the economy, investment, terms of trade effects, and reduction in fuel tax revenue. For example, more expensive vehicles require more saving going toward purchase of the vehicle, thus squeezing out other investment and adding to the cost of the policy. As another example, reduced demand for

oil leads to a reduction in the world oil price, and since Europe is a net oil importer it benefits from this lower price. These international changes in price are more broadly referred to as changes in the terms of trade. Given the interdependencies of these effects it is impossible to completely separate them. Paltsev *et al.* (2007) offer a more detailed discussion of direct and indirect costs of climate policy.

We find on balance net consumption costs for both the *Emission Trading* and *Current ES* when compared with the *No Policy* scenario (**Table 5**). *Emission Trading* has a net cost of $\ell 2$ billion in 2015, rising to about $\ell 5$ billion in 2020, and to about $\ell 8$ billion in 2025. Adding the vehicle mandates in *Current ES* increases the costs by $\ell 0.7$ billion in 2015 (to $\ell 2.7$ billion), and by $\ell 12.3$ billion in 2020 (to $\ell 17.2$ billion). By 2025 the additional consumption losses about double to $\ell 24.1$ billion from the 2020 level of losses in *Current ES* even though the emissions target only falls from 98 g/km in 2020 to 95 g/km. Among factors leading to this strong jump in costs is continuing growth in the economy, and the crowding out of investment along the entire scenario that gradually slows economic growth—an effect that accumulates over time. With projected new car sales in the EU at about 13 million per year, the $\ell 12$ billion added cost in 2020 in *Current ES* means the standards amount to an additional cost of about $\ell 925$ Euro per new car sold. This is a consumption loss divided by number of vehicles sold, and is hence net of fuel savings and includes other indirect economic costs (and benefits such as from terms of trade changes).

	Emission Trading <i>bn €/year</i>	Emission Standards <i>bn €/year</i>
2015	2.0	2.7
2020	4.9	17.2
2025	8.2	see below
Current ES		32.2
ES78		50.7
ES68		70.9

Table 5. Policy costs (in billion Euro/year) of reaching the same CO₂ targets with alternative policy instruments.

While economy-wide emissions are identical in both *Current ES* and *Emission Trading*, it is instructive to divide the total cost by the total emissions reduction to get an average cost per ton of emissions reduction. Combining information from Table 4 on the total economy-wide emission reduction of 220 MtCO₂ and the costs of ϵ 4.9 billion and ϵ 17.2 billion reported in Table 5, we can compare the average economy-wide costs of CO₂. With ϵ 22 per tonne in the *Emission Trading* scenario and ϵ 78 per tonne in the *Current ES* scenario, this makes the current standards about 3.5 times more costly. Even more informative is an average cost of *additional* emission reductions in vehicles. For 2020 the additional vehicle emissions reductions are 47 MtCO₂ (18 MtCO₂ in the *Emission Trading* scenario vs. 65 MtCO₂ in the *Current ES*

scenario) at an added cost of ϵ 12.3 billion, making the average cost of this reduction about ϵ 260 per tonne of CO₂. Comparing these gives another sense of the economic inefficiency of the mandates.

As noted earlier, current mandates for vehicles are specified only to 2021. In the *Current ES* scenario we assumed this standard remained unchanged in 2025. Scenarios *ES78* and *ES68* allow us to estimate the costs of the tighter targets under discussion for 2025 (EPRS, 2014). As shown in Table 4, the costs are significant— ϵ 50.7 billion (ϵ 42.5 billion more than *Emission Trading*) in *ES78* and ϵ 70.9 billion (ϵ 62.7 billion more) in *ES68*. These tighter standards come at ever-higher costs per ton of emissions reduction. The average cost of the 16 MtCO₂ of *additional* reduction in *ES78* (beyond *Current ES* in 2025) is ϵ 1,125 per tonne of CO₂; the average cost of the 10 billion tonnes of *additional* reduction in *ES68* (beyond *ES78*) is ϵ 2,020 per tonne of CO₂. Compared with the average cost per ton reduced with emissions trading, this calculation helps to indicate the degree of inefficiency created by the vehicle emissions mandates.

Government tax revenues are reduced in the policy scenarios because the policies reduce overall economic activity and fuel use, which is a significant source of government revenue in Europe. An argument can be made that tax revenue neutrality should be enforced to estimate the full policy cost. This could be accomplished by raising tax rates to compensate for revenue lost due to the declining tax base. Higher tax rates will generally lead to higher welfare costs, but the total additional cost will depend on which taxes are raised (Rausch *et al.*, 2010). Gitiaux *et al.* (2012) showed that tax reform reducing the very high fuel taxes in Europe and replacing the revenue with other taxes could actually improve welfare.

5. CONCLUSIONS

We find that in comparison to emission trading, the vehicle mandates in 2020 reduce the CO_2 emissions from transportation by about 50 MtCO₂ and lower oil expenditures by about ϵ 6 billion, but the vehicle emission standards cost an additional ϵ 12 billion in 2020 (net of fuel savings and terms of trade benefits). Keeping the 2021 mandates unchanged for 2025 leads to the EU consumption loss of about €24 billion in 2025. Increasing the emission targets further to 78–68g/km leads to an annual consumption loss of €40–63 billion in 2025. In percentage terms, emissions trading results in a 0.08% loss in macroeconomic consumption in 2025. Adding vehicle emission standards increases the loss to 0.69% and leads to no greater reduction in economy-wide CO₂ emissions. The vehicle emission standards do result in a greater reduction in petroleum use, one of the goals of broader energy policy in Europe. We estimated the additional petroleum reduction to be about 12 mtoe in 2020, or about 2% of total petroleum use in Europe. This rises to about 14 mtoe in 2025, or about 2.5% of petroleum use, by which time the standards are fully phased in (although the old car fleet has not been fully replaced). Our analysis was based on technical studies of vehicle efficiency improvements conducted in the US. Ideally, we would base our vehicle cost and efficiency estimates on an assessment of the specific types vehicles sold in Europe, but no comparably detailed assessment has been conducted.

The motivation for separate sectoral policies, especially on vehicles, is often that an economy-wide carbon price will not induce a significant reduction in fuel use, and the sector ought to contribute a "fair share" of the economy-wide reduction. Our analysis suggests that policies that require greater emissions reductions from sectors that otherwise might not reduce as much incur a hefty toll on the economy. By contrast, market-based instruments that allow greater emissions reductions in sectors where they cost less shrink the economic pie by a substantially smaller margin.

Acknowledgements

The paper benefitted from comments of participants on an earlier draft of the paper presented at a workshop on the EU fuels standards held in Brussels on February 26, 2015, organized by General Motors. The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, where the authors are affiliated, is supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science under grants DE-FG02-94ER61937, DE-FG02-08ER64597, DE-FG02-93ER61677, DE-SC0003906, DE- SC0007114, XEU-0-9920-01; the U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge National Laboratory under Subcontract 4000109855; the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under grants XA-83240101, PI-83412601-0, RD-83427901-0, XA-83505101-0, XA-83600001-1, and subcontract UTA12-000624; the U.S. National Science Foundation under grants AGS-0944121, EFRI-0835414, IIS-1028163, ECCS-1128147, ARC-1203526, EF-1137306, AGS-1216707, and SES-0825915; the U.S. National Aeronautics and Space Administration under grants NNX06AC30A, NNX07AI49G, NNX11AN72G and Sub Agreement No. 08-SFWS-209365.MIT; the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration under grants 06-C-NE-MIT, 09-C-NE-MIT, Agmt. No. 4103-30368; the U.S. Department of Transportation under grant DTRT57-10-C-10015; the Electric Power Research Institute under grant EP-P32616/C15124, EP-P8154/C4106; the U.S. Department of Agriculture under grant 58-6000-2-0099, 58-0111-9-001; and a consortium of 35 industrial and foundation sponsors (for the complete list see: http://globalchange.mit.edu/sponsors/all).

REFERENCES

- Allcott, H. and N. Wozny, 2012: Gasoline Prices, Fuel Economy, and the Energy Paradox. NBER Working Paper. (<u>https://files.nyu.edu/ha32/public/research/Allcott and Wozny 2012 NBER WP</u>-Gasoline Prices, Fuel Economy, and the Energy Paradox.pdf)
- Anderson, S.T. and J.M. Sallee, 2011: Using Loopholes to Reveal the Marginal Cost of Regulation: The Case of Fuel-Economy Standards. *American Economic Review* **101**(4): 1375–1409.
- EC [European Commission], 2007: Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament: Results of the review of the Community Strategy to reduce CO₂ emissions from passenger cars and light-commercial vehicles. Brussels, Belgium.
- EC [European Council], 2009: Regulation No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 Setting emission performance standards for new passenger cars as part of the Community's integrated approach to reduce CO₂ emissions from light-duty vehicles. Brussels, Belgium (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32009R0443:en:NOT).
- EC [European Council], 2014: Conclusions on 2030 Climate and Energy Policy Framework. SN 79/14, Brussels, Belgium.
- EEA [European Environment Agency], 2014: Monitoring of CO₂ Emissions from Passenger Cars Regulation 443/2009. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark (http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/CO₂-cars-emission-7).
- Ellerman, A., H. Jacoby and M. Zimmerman, 2006: Bringing Transportation into a Cap-and-Trade Regime. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change *Report 136*, Cambridge, MA.
- EPA [U.S. Environmental Protection Agency], 2010: Final rulemaking to establish light-duty vehicle greenhouse gas emission standards and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards: Joint technical support document. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA [U.S. Environmental Protection Agency], 2012a: EPA Optimization Model for Reducing Emissions of Greenhouse Gases from Automobiles (OMEGA). Assessment and Standards Division, Office of Transportation and Air Quality, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (http://www.epa.gov/oms/climate/documents/420r12024.pdf).
- EPA [U.S. Environmental Protection Agency], 2012b: Regulatory Impact Analysis: Final Rulemaking for 2017-2025 Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emission Standards and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards. (http://www.epa.gov/oms/climate/documents/420r12016.pdf).
- EPA [U.S. Environmental Protection Agency], 2014: Fuel Economy Testing and Labeling, Office of Transportation and Air Quality. EPA-420-F-14-015.
- EPRS [European Parliamentary Research Service], 2014: Reducing CO₂ Emissions from New Cars. Briefing 20/02/2014, European Union.
- EU, 2014: Regulation No 333/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2014 amending Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 to define the modalities for reaching the 2020 target to reduce CO₂ emissions from new passenger cars. European Union (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:OJ.L .2014.103.01.0015.01.ENG).
- Eur-Lex, 2012: (Doc. No. 52012SC0213) Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Regulation (EU) No 510/2011 to define the modalities for reaching the 2020 target to reduce CO₂ emissions from new light commercial vehicles. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=SWD:2012:0213:FIN:EN:HTML).
- Gitiaux, X., S. Rausch, S. Paltsev and J. Reilly, 2012: Biofuels, Climate Policy and the European Vehicle Fleet. *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy* **46**(1): 1–23.

- Goldberg, P. K., 1998: The Effects of the Corporate Average Fuel Efficiency Standards in the US. *The Journal of Industrial Economics* **46**(1): 133.
- Greene, D., P. Patterson, M. Singh and J. Li, 2005: Feebates, Rebates, and Gas-Guzzler Taxes: A Study of Incentives for Increased Fuel Economy. *Energy Policy* **33**(6): 757–775.
- ICCT [International Council on Clean Transportation], 2014a: EU CO₂ Emission Standards for Passenger Cars and Light-Commercial Vehicles. Washington, D.C.: International Council on Clean Transportation.
- ICCT [International Council on Clean Transportation], 2014b: From Laboratory to Road: A 2014 Update of Official and "Real-World" Fuel Consumption and CO₂ Values for Passenger Cars in Europe. Berlin, Germany: International Council on Clean Transportation Europe (http://www.theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ICCT_LaboratoryToRoad_2014_Report_Engli sh.pdf).
- IEA [International Energy Agency], 2014: World Energy Outlook. Paris, France.
- IMF [International Monetary Fund], 2014: World Economic Outlook. Washington, DC.
- Karplus, V.J., 2011: Climate and energy policy for U.S. passenger vehicles: A technology-rich economic modeling and policy analysis. Ph.D. Thesis, Engineering Systems Division, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA.
- Karplus, V.J. and S. Paltsev, 2012: Proposed Vehicle Fuel Economy Standards in the United States for 2017 to 2025: Impacts on the Economy, Energy, and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. *Transportation Research Record* 2287, 132–139.
- Karplus, V.J., S. Paltsev, M. Babiker and J.M. Reilly, 2013a: Applying Engineering and Fleet Detail to Represent Passenger Vehicle Transport in a Computable General Equilibrium Model. *Economic Modelling* 30, 295–305.
- Karplus, V.J., S. Paltsev, M. Babiker and J.M. Reilly, 2013b: Should a Vehicle Fuel Economy Standard be Combined with an Economy-wide Greenhouse Gas Emissions Constraint? Implications for Energy and Climate Policy in the United States. *Energy Economics* 36, 322–333.
- Karplus, V.J., P. Kishimoto and S. Paltsev, 2015: The global energy, CO₂ emissions, and economic impact of vehicle fuel economy standards, *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy* (forthcoming).
- Klier, T. and J. Linn, 2011: Fuel Prices and New Vehicle Fuel Economy in Europe. Washington, D.C.: Resources for the Future. (http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1978518)
- Knittel, C., 2012: Reducing Petroleum Consumption from Transportation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research. (http://web.mit.edu/ceepr/www/publications/workingpapers/2011-020.pdf).
- Knittel, C., M. Busse and F. Zettelmeyer, 2013: "Are Consumers Myopic? Evidence from New and Used Car Purchases," *American Economic Review* **103**(1).
- Narayanan, B. and T. Welmsley, 2008: Global Trade, Assistance, and Production: The GTAP 7 Data Base. Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN.
- Paltsev, S., L. Viguier, M. Babiker, J. Reilly and K-H. Tay, 2004: "Disaggregating Household Transport in the MIT-EPPA Model," MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change *Technical Note 5*, Cambridge, MA. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC_TechNote5.pdf)
- Paltsev, S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, R. Eckhaus, J. McFarland and M. Sarofim, 2005: The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Version 4. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change *Report 125*, Cambridge, MA. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC Rpt125.pdf)

- Paltsey, S., J.M. Reilly, H.D. Jacoby and K. H. Tay, 2007: "How (and Why) do Climate Policy Costs Differ Among Countries?" Chapter 24 in M.E. Schlesinger, H.S. Kheshgi, J. Smith, F.C. de la Chesnaye, J.M. Reilly, T. Wilson, and C. Kolstad (eds.), Human-Induced Climate Change: An Interdisciplinary Assessment, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge: 282-293.
- Paltsev, S. and P. Capros, 2013: Cost Concepts for Climate Change Mitigation, Climate Change Economics 4, 1340003.
- Paltsev, S., V. Karplus, H. Chen, I. Karkatsouli, J. Reilly and H. Jacoby, 2014: Regulatory Control of Vehicle and Power Plant Emissions: How Effective and at What Cost? *Climate Policy*, in press.
- Rausch, S., G. Metcalf, J. Reilly and S. Paltsev, 2010: Distributional Implications of Alternative U.S. Greenhouse Gas Control Measures, B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis and Policy 10(2): Article 1, 1 - 44
- Rausch, S. and V. Karplus, 2014: Markets versus Regulation: The Efficiency and Distributional Impacts of U.S. Climate Policy Proposals, Energy Journal 35(SI1): 199-227.
- Ricardo-AEA, 2014: Evaluation of Regulations 443/2009 and 510/2011 on the reduction of CO₂ emissions from light-duty vehicles, Brussels, 9th December 2014.
- Small, K. and K. Van Dender, 2007: Fuel Efficiency and Motor Vehicle Travel: The Declining Rebound Effect. The Energy Journal 28(4): 25-52.
- Sterner, T., 2012: Distributional Effects of Taxing Transport Fuel. Energy Policy 41, 75-83.
- TNO, 2011: Support for the revision of Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 on CO₂ emissions from cars. Service request #1 for Framework Contract on Vehicle Emissions. Delft, The Netherlands. (http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/cars/docs/study car 2011 en.pdf)
- Transport & Environment, 2014: Manipulation of Fuel Economy Test Results by Carmakers: Further evidence, costs, and solutions. Brussels, Belgium. (http://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2014 Mind the Gap T%26E Briefing FINAL.pdf)
- US EPCA, 1975: United States Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975. Pub. L. No. 94-163.
- Waugh, C., S. Paltsev, N. Selin, J. Reilly, J. Morris and M. Sarofim, 2011: "Emission Inventory for Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gases and Air Pollutants in EPPA 5," MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change Technical Note 12, Cambridge, MA. (http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/MITJPSPGC TechNote12.pdf)

REPORT SERIES of the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

FOR THE COMPLETE LIST OF JOINT PROGRAM REPORTS: http://globalchange.mit.edu/pubs/all-reports.php

- 242. The Energy and CO₂ Emissions Impact of Renewable Energy Development in China. *Zhang et al.*, April 2013
- 243. Integrated Economic and Climate Projections for Impact Assessment. *Paltsev et al.,* May 2013
- 244. A Framework for Modeling Uncertainty in Regional Climate Change. Monier et al., May 2013
- 245. Climate Change Impacts on Extreme Events in the United States: An Uncertainty Analysis. Monier and Gao, May 2013
- 246. Probabilistic Projections of 21st Century Climate Change over Northern Eurasia. *Monier et al.*, July 2013
- 247. What GHG Concentration Targets are Reachable in this Century? Paltsev et al., July 2013
- 248. The Energy and Economic Impacts of Expanding International Emissions Trading. *Qi et al.*, August 2013
- 249. Limited Sectoral Trading between the EU ETS and China. *Gavard et al.,* August 2013
- 250. The Association of Large-Scale Climate Variability and Teleconnections on Wind Resource over Europe and its Intermittency. Kriesche and Schlosser, September 2013
- 251. Regulatory Control of Vehicle and Power Plant Emissions: How Effective and at What Cost? Paltsev et al., October 2013
- 252. Synergy between Pollution and Carbon Emissions Control: Comparing China and the U.S. Nam et al., October 2013
- 253. An Analogue Approach to Identify Extreme Precipitation Events: Evaluation and Application to CMIP5 Climate Models in the United States. Gao et al. November 2013
- 254. The Future of Global Water Stress: An Integrated Assessment. Schlosser et al., January 2014
- 255. The Mercury Game: Evaluating a Negotiation Simulation that Teaches Students about Science–Policy Interactions. Stokes and Selin, January 2014
- 256. The Potential Wind Power Resource in Australia: A New *Perspective.* Hallgren et al., February 2014
- 257. Equity and Emissions Trading in China. Zhang et al., February 2014
- 258. Characterization of the Wind Power Resource in Europe and its Intermittency. Cosseron et al., March 2014
- 259. A Self-Consistent Method to Assess Air Quality Co-Benefits from US Climate Policies. Saari et al., April 2014
- 260. Electricity Generation and Emissions Reduction Decisions under Policy Uncertainty: A General Equilibrium Analysis. Morris et al., April 2014
- 261. An Integrated Assessment of China's Wind Energy Potential. Zhang et al., April 2014
- 262. The China-in-Global Energy Model. Qi et al. May 2014

- **263. Markets versus Regulation:** *The Efficiency and Distributional Impacts of U.S. Climate Policy Proposals. Rausch and Karplus,* May 2014
- **264. Expectations for a New Climate Agreement.** Jacoby and Chen, August 2014
- 265. Coupling the High Complexity Land Surface Model ACASA to the Mesoscale Model WRF. Xu et al., August 2014
- 266. The CO₂ Content of Consumption Across US Regions: A *Multi-Regional Input-Output (MRIO) Approach.* Caron *et al.,* August 2014
- **267.** Carbon emissions in China: How far can new efforts bend the curve? Zhang et al., October 2014
- 268. Characterization of the Solar Power Resource in Europe and Assessing Benefits of Co-Location with Wind Power Installations. *Bozonnat and Schlosser*, October 2014
- 269. A Framework for Analysis of the Uncertainty of Socioeconomic Growth and Climate Change on the Risk of Water Stress: a Case Study in Asia. Fant et al., November 2014
- 270. Interprovincial Migration and the Stringency of Energy Policy in China. Luo et al., November 2014
- **271. International Trade in Natural Gas:** *Golden Age of LNG? Du and Paltsev,* November 2014
- 272. Advanced Technologies in Energy-Economy Models for Climate Change Assessment. Morris et al., December 2014
- 273. The Contribution of Biomass to Emissions Mitigation under a Global Climate Policy. Winchester and Reilly, January 2015
- 274. Modeling regional transportation demand in China and the impacts of a national carbon constraint. *Kishimoto et al.*, January 2015.
- 275. The Impact of Advanced Biofuels on Aviation Emissions and Operations in the U.S. Winchester et al., February 2015
- 276. Specifying Parameters in Computable General Equilibrium Models using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods. *Koesler,* February 2015
- 277. Renewables Intermittency: Operational Limits and Implications for Long-Term Energy System Models. Delarue and Morris, March 2015
- 278. The MIT EPPA6 Model: Economic Growth, Energy Use, and Food Consumption. *Chen et al.*, March 2015
- 279. Emulating maize yields from global gridded crop models using statistical estimates. Blanc and Sultan, March 2015
- 280. Water Body Temperature Model for Assessing Climate Change Impacts on Thermal Cooling. *Strzepek et al.,* May 2015
- **281. Impacts of CO₂ Mandates for New Cars in the European Union.** *Paltsev et al.*, May 2015